THE A TYPE VAUXHALL 1908 - 1915 (or 1920!)

“From little acorns mighty oaks grow”

The 20hp A Type was the first production Vauxhall designed by Laurence Pomeroy:  it became the most acclaimed 3 litre of its day and at Brooklands on 26th October 1910, it became the first 20 hp car to exceed 100 mph of any make in the world.

It is popularly thought that Pomeroy was the driving force behind the competitive thrust of the Company, but this was not entirely so.  Many car manufacturers at that time believed that success in races, trials and record breaking helped with both car sales and in engineering developments:  this was certainly the case at Vauxhall with Percy Kidner and Jock Hancock leading the way in competitive driving.  For example, before Pomeroy joined the Company, Hancock drove a three cylinder chain driven Vauxhall in the 1905 Tourist Trophy race, although the car barely survived more than one of the 52-mile laps before expiring with a broken wheel.  Pomeroy's crucial contribution was to provide the Company with a series of great designs, starting with the Y Type, which could then be modified for competition in races, trials and for speed and endurance record breaking.

Pomeroy had joined Vauxhall Motors in 1906 as an assistant draughtsman, at the age of twenty-two, and first made his mark in the 1908 RAC and Scottish Reliability Trial, held in June of that year.

Originally the Company had intended to enter a 12/16 hp X Type in the Trial:  this car had a "T" head 85mm x 95mm side-valve engine and had been in production since 1906, but FW Hodges, Chief Designer at Vauxhall at the time, was away in Egypt on holiday and young Pomeroy, by then promoted to Assistant Designer, seized this opportunity to develop his own design for the event.  

On the engine test bed the X Type could only develop 23.5 bhp at 1,800 revs, whereas the Pomeroy design, later to be known as the Y Type, developed 38 bhp at 2,500 revs and on this basis the Company decided to enter the Y Type in the 2000 Miles Trial.

The 1908 RAC & Scottish 2000 Miles Reliability Trial

The 2000 Miles Trial started in London and linked up with the Scottish Reliability Trial at Glasgow, including some timed hill climbs in Scotland and the Lake District, culminating in a final speed test of 200 miles around the recently opened Brooklands circuit.

Two of these cars were made by the Company for the 1908 RAC Trial:  one was entered in the event and a second car was kept in reserve.  The Vauxhall Y1, driven by Percy Kidner, completed the whole event with the loss of fewer marks, in terms of time penalties, than any other car in the trial, irrespective of class.  The car won Class E of the Trial and the overall event, second place being awarded to a 40-50 hp Rolls Royce.

Throughout the Trial, Kidner drove the car with a view to reliability but decided to demonstrate the car's speed on the hill climbs, with an aggregate of 37 secs less time in the hill climbs than any other car in its class. Likewise, when the car arrived at Brooklands for the speed test, it was so far ahead of all cars whatever class that Kidner could relax, accomplishing the 200 miles at an average speed of 46 mph, when he knew that Y1 was capable of 55 mph!

However, at the time there was much general criticism of the Trial and just to show that the Vauxhall's success was not a matter of chance, the car went on to distinguish itself with fastest time in the Hertfordshire A.C. climb at Aston Clinton, at Gaillon in France and also in the Lancashire A.C. climb at Rivington Pike.  At Shelsley Walsh, Percy Kidner won the President's Cup for the best all-round performance with the car.

At the time, WJ Scott of Christchurch held the Vauxhall agency in New Zealand and persuaded the Company to send the reserve car (Y2) out to him to use for promotional purposes in his country, it arrived there just before Christmas and in time to compete in the four day trial run by the A.A. Canterbury.  The car won a gold medal for a non-stop run, a certificate for the highest marks for reliability and a trophy for the fastest time in the hill climb.

Y2 went on to have a distinguished history in New Zealand, was never beaten in competition over the next four years, and was recorded at 68 mph on Brighton Beach in 1912, after the engine was modified on Jock Hancock's instruction, which allowed the engine to produce up to 3,000 rpm.  Scott issued many challenges to other makes to beat his car - none ever materialised!

Fortunately, this car, now known as "Old Blue", still survives:  after three body changes since arriving in New Zealand, in 1930 it was left in a barn to rot, but in 1951 Jack Newell found the car, restored it to it's original condition and it has been actively campaigned over the past half century.

The A Type series

The A Type was developed from the Y Type prototype, following its outstanding success in the 1908 RAC & Scottish 2000 Mile Reliability Trial, and was put into production as the A09 car.  

In fact, the cars marketed by Vauxhall as the A Type from 1908 to 1914 were four quite distinct models:  the A09, A11, A12, all designated as 20 hp cars, and the 16/20 hp A Type.  These cars represent a continuous evolution from 27th October 1908, when the first A09 was manufactured, up to the end of 1914 when mass production halted, although a few were produced in the early years of the War and some remnants were put together to make one car after the end of the War, this car leaving the factory on 2nd October 1920, as the last A Type made by the Company.

In broad terms, the A09 and A11 were developments of the X Type, converted to a four speed gearbox and with the Y Type engine installed: the earliest cars retained many of the earlier cars, the first A09 cars had a three-speed gearbox with three mountings on the sub-frame, while at least the first 70 cars retained the sheet copper sump, as fitted to the X Type engines, before the aluminium cast sump was introduced that was retained on most engines into the mid-1920s. There was a major revision of the chassis for the A12; and then for the 16/20 hp A Type both engine and chassis underwent major re-design.

From its inception, the A Type was conceived as a 3 litre car with a 90mm x 120mm five bearing forced lubrication side-valve monobloc engine.  Pistons were made of cast iron and were available in a number of crown heights, to give a range of compressions to suit different quality fuels.  However, there was a fundamental change in engine design between the A12 and the 16/20 hp A Type:  the earlier models had a separate inlet manifold, a massive exhaust bottle rather than a manifold, and the camshaft and magneto were driven by direct gears from the crankshaft;  for the 16/20 A type, the block was redesigned with an integral inlet manifold, a finned exhaust manifold and the gear drive to camshaft and magneto was replaced by inverted tooth "silent" chain drive, as fitted to all D Types and later Pomeroy-designed cars. 

In many ways the A12 was an intermediary model, with only 57 cars manufactured, and of these, 21 were supplied with a larger 3.5 litre (95mm x 120mm) engine, as the old engine derived from the Y Type failed to meet competition from other marques.

In 1909, the engine produced 38 bhp, by the following year the power output was raised to 60 bhp, and in its most advanced form, as fitted to the 1913 Coupe de L'Auto cars, the engine output was quoted as 80 bhp, as reported by Pomeroy's son.

Cooling in the A09, A11 and A12 was by fan and thermo-syphon, whereas in the 16/20 hp, most were cooled by thermo-syphon but some included a water pump, integral within the monobloc and driven by belt off the front of the magneto drive.

In the earlier years, the A09 and A11 were supplied with 30mm White & Poppe carburettors, in the A12, some were fitted with the White & Poppe carburettor but the 36mm Zenith carburettor was also fitted, but for the 16/20 hp A Type, a few had White & Poppe carburettors, the 36mm Zenith was preferred, but as these became unavailable the Company resorted to 26mm Claudel Hobson carburettors.

In all the early cars petrol supply was gravity feed from a tank mounted under the driver's seat, but in the A12 model, fuel supply was usually gravity feed but in a few cars this was replaced by forced supply from an air pressurised tank mounted between the rear chassis forks, while in the 16/20 hp cars, fuel supply was always by force feed from a rear mounted tank.

Similarly, in the A09, A11 and A12 cars, the Bosch D magneto was standard ignition equipment, for the 16/20 hp A Type, this was replaced by the Bosch ZU4 magneto, but, again, as the Bosch product became scarce, the American Eisman EK4 was fitted, and the last production A Type was supplied with a Simms SR4 magneto.

In the early years of production, the A09, A11 and A12 were produced in two wheelbases (9'7" and 10'3"), with the additional eight inches costing an extra five pounds on the chassis price, but with the introduction of the 16/20 hp car from late 1912 onwards, the car was offered only in 9'9" wheel-base form.

All A Type chassis have parallel sides, with a 3inch out-tuck 4.5ins wide after the fire-board:  the A09, A11 and A12 are 30ins wide at the front forks broadening to 36ins backwards after the fire-board, whereas the 16/20 hp A Type is 28ins wide at the front, widening to 34ins at the rear.  In cars manufactured for the UK market the widened out-tuck only runs for some 18ins back, but in the Colonial cars, the out-tuck was tapered back to the rear cross member of the chassis, for greater load bearing strength.

Furthermore, the chassis of the A09 and A11 are much lighter in construction, with a flimsy sub-frame of thin U section steel (3.0ins x 1.5ins) which sometimes broke, whereas the A12 is made of much thicker 5/16th inch steel, with a heavy sub-frame made of 4ins angle iron of the same thickness.  The chassis of the 16/20hp A Type retains the more robust construction, but is narrower, both at front and rear, than the earlier models, as described above.

In the A09 and the early A11 cars, drive was through a cone clutch, direct metal to metal onto a surface on the flywheel, but this was changed towards the end of the A.11 production run to a multi-disc system, running in graphite, as is found in all later Vauxhalls of Pomeroy design.  The rear axle ratio varied in the early years:  in the A09 cars 17 or 19:56, and 15, 16, and 17:62 were all available, but after this the crown wheel was standardised with 62 teeth and in the A11 and A12 only 16 or 17 tooth pinions were fitted, but in the 16/20 hp A Type the great majority had 16 toothed pinions (1:3.85), although a few were recorded as being fitted with 15 or 17 toothed pinions.

Braking was by rear wheel brakes actuated by the hand-brake, supplemented by foot operated transmission brake:  in the A09, A11 and A12 cars 12 ins brake drums were fitted, but with increased power output of the 16/20 hp A Type, 9ins drums were standard as they were on most Prince Henry cars!  A triumph of heart over head, where stopping power was sacrificed for lightness of chassis.

The car was available in a number of body styles.  In 1910, semi-racers, landaulettes, phaetons and cabriolets were available, with the popular semi-racer body priced at £35 0s 0d and the top of the range cabriolet at £200 0s 0d, on a chassis price of £420!  By 1913 production was much more organised, with factory body styles including the rare Ascot two seater torpedo, an example of which resides in the South Island of New Zealand, the popular Norfolk open tourer, the Harborough sporting saloon and the Dunstan single landaulette.  If you wanted more substantial body-work, but could not afford one of the Vauxhall six cylinder cars, you bought a D Type!

In the A09 and the A11 the king pins are vertical, giving these cars the characteristic bow-legged front end view of early Edwardian vehicles, whereas inclined king pins were first introduced in the A12 model.

As was usual in the Edwardian era, wheel diameters were reduced over the production period:  in 1910 and 1911 the cars were offered with 875 x 105 tyres, in 1912 tyre size was quoted as 880 x 120 and in 1913 and 1914 tyre size was down to 815 x 105 as standard.  In 1914, the car speed was quoted as 24.5 mph per 1,000 revs, in top (direct) drive.

All these changes in specification are set out in Table 1 at the end of this article.

The production run of the A09 was 253 cars, starting on 27th October 1908; from 3rd October 1910 some 359 A11 cars were produced; the first A12 had a manufacture date of 2nd June 1912, with only 57 produced, of which 21 had 3.5 litre engines; whereas 271 16/20 hp cars were produced, first leaving the factory on the 21st November 1912, and the last on 2nd October 1920.  In all, nearly nine hundred and fifty A Types were produced by the Company:  18 in 1908; 224 in the peak year of 1911; tailing off to 26 in 1915 and 1 in 1920!  It was described as "The most remarkable 'twenty' in the motor car world" by the Daily Telegraph on 6th October, 1910

The A Type and the Prince Henry cars

On 23rdApril 1910, the Company announced in Autocar that it had decided to enter a team of three cars (WO 1930) in the Prince Henry Trial and Pomeroy designed a new model, the C.10, introducing the distinctive V radiator on a special narrow and tapered chassis with a high lift over the rear axle. This chassis would carry a light body which was of generally sporting appearance for the time.

A new engine with overhead valves was also designed as it was the intention of the Company to have a “new” car for the Trial. However, the new engine proved a complete failure and the cars were fitted with tuned A Type side-valve engines at the last moment and despatched to Germany from Harwich on 21st May for the event.

In an interview which appeared in Autocar on25th June that year, Percy Kidner gave the game away in trying to rationalise these cars performance against the German opposition: he explained that the Company knew they would not win the Trial as the overhead valve engines were not (and never were) ready in time, but that the Germans had flouted the rules by using much larger engines (105x165mm) and had fitted light narrow bodies which only complied with the regulations for the breadth of the body  at one point, whereas Vauxhall had fitted proper touring bodies capable of carrying four people. Well, if you cannot win, let’s accuse the winners of cheating!   

In this sense, the A Type engine came to the rescue of the Prince Henry and during the first two years from 1910, the car was known as the 20 hp "Prince Henry" Type, carrying both A and C10 Type engine and chassis numbers, but it was not until the end of 1911 that the car was first offered to the public in the Company's sales literature.

The A Type as racing car

As pointed out earlier, with Percy Kidner in the driving seat, Vauxhall strongly subscribed to the view that competition success helped with sales:  on this basis, many of the models from across the current range were entered into speed events, sprints and hill climbs, cars would be entered in the different classes, based on the RAC horse-power classification or the formula that was pertaining to that particular event.  The success of the Company was then quoted in the number of firsts and other awards from all entries, rather than success in, say, the 21hp classification events.  Thus, in the 1910 sales catalogue, the Company boasted that of the 36 events in which they competed during 1909, they won 24 "firsts", 8 "seconds" and 4 "thirds".  By 1914, the Company claimed 75 "firsts" in 1913, with a large proportion of these wins in the hands of amateurs, and, for example, at the Manchester A.C. Trial that year, Vauxhalls won eight first prizes out of ten, with entries including a Prince Henry, A and D Type tourers.

The first Vauxhall to gain circuit racing success was known as Hans IV, a stripped down A.09 owned by Hans Selz, a German-born director of the Company, who “During the 1909 season … won eight places, competing in eight events at one meeting, an unique score in the annals of automobile racing” according to the Autocar at the time. Later, Selz changed his name to Sells and fought for “King and Country”, serving in the Middlesex Regiment in the Great War.

On the race track, single seater versions of the A Type Vauxhall won the prestigious O'Gorman Trophy at Brooklands, a 30 mile scratch race for 21 hp RAC rated cars, in 1909, 1910 and 1912, the last time at an average speed of 92.5 mph.  In all there were four O'Gorman Trophy races at Brooklands:  the first, in 1908, was a long distance event for monster racers, but the following three races were restricted for 21 hp cars and run over much shorter distances.  Vauxhall won all of these races, although the race in 1910 was a hollow victory as the race was only contended by three cars - all Vauxhalls!  Bill Boddy has confirmed that the race was not run in 1911, so the Company could claim successive victories in this prestigious event.  Over these four years, the winning Vauxhall's average speed went up from 71 mph in 1909 to over 92 mph in 1912.  Success in the 1908 Trial and the O'Gorman Races were the Company's most often quoted benchmarks of their cars' performance.

The A Type engine was also the basis for the Company's abortive attempts at road racing in the 3 litre formula, having abandoned overhead valves until the 1914 Grand Prix cars. 

In 1911 a single car was entered in the Coupe de l'Auto race to be run on 25th June over the Boulogne circuit.  It is now known that the engine had three valves per cylinder, with a push-rod addition to activate the third valve. The car was a two seater with a long pointed tail and disc wheels, it was painted red and carried the "lucky" number 13; the bore and stroke had to be reduced to 89.7 mm and 118 mm respectively to comply with the regulation that the engine must not exceed 3 litres, and in what could now be seen as the start of trend in road racing by the Company, alas, the car expired after completing only one lap.

Not deterred by the failure in 1911, the Company returned to the trusted side-valve engine and prepared four smart green painted cars, with one as reserve, for the event in 1912, which was to be run in conjunction with the French Grand Prix at Dieppe, a wonderful opportunity to compete in a great international road race.  The cars retained the reduced 3 litre engine, which were now said to develop some 80 bhp, propelling the cars at 100 mph in favourable conditions at Brooklands, or 85 mph on the road.  These cars were numbered C12-1 to 4, built on Works Order 1935, dated 20th September 1911, with a bore and stroke of 90 mm and 118 mm respectively, with a rear axle ratio of 20:61 and running on 820x120 be tyres.  These four cars were described in the Works Order record as the 3 Litre Racing Cars.

These C12 Coupe de l'Auto cars were a delight to the eye and carried the famous V radiator with distinction.  The Company entered Jock Hancock, Willie Watson and Harry Ferguson, later of tractor and 4WD fame, to drive the cars, but in practice Ferguson overturned his car and he was replaced in the race by Percy “Pearly” Lambert.

Entries came from Sunbeam, Calthorpe, Peugeot, Singer and Arrol-Johnston, as well as Vauxhall, but in the race it was clear that the competition was only between Vauxhall and Sunbeam, the former championing short-stroke light weight engines whereas Sunbeam preferred a long-stroke engine, with cylinder dimensions of 80 by 148.5 mm.  After the first lap, the order was Sunbeam (Rigal), Sunbeam (Resta), Vauxhall (Watson), Sunbeam (Medinger), Sunbeam (Caillois) and Vauxhall (Hancock).  During the third lap Watson's car broke a con rod, but by the fifth lap Hancock had overhauled all the Sunbeams to lead the class:  Resta and Hancock then duelled for the next four laps, but by the end of the first day's racing Sunbeam had triumphed over Vauxhall.

On the second day, Hancock broke a piston on the first lap but struggled on with three cylinders for a further fourteen laps before a second piston expired, Lambert had a very unhappy race, eventually being flagged off and not classed as a finisher.  To the chagrin of the Luton operation, Sunbeam covered themselves in glory, finishing 4th, 5th and 6th in the race overall, and 1, 2, 3 in the Coupe de L'Auto.

In 1913, the Coupe de L'Auto returned to the Boulogne circuit, where Hancock had made such a brief and disastrous appearance two years earlier, and it was in this event that Vauxhall came closest to glory in any road race. The Company entered two of  the 1912 cars in the race, the third was retained to accommodate a 30-98 engine, with spectacular results, and one was sent out to Scott in New Zealand to follow the trail blazed previously by Old Blue.

These two cars were little changed from the Dieppe cars, except further engine tuning, slightly raised gear ratios and replacement of the V radiator with the curved radiator of 30/98 introduction, probably to help engine cooling.  Again side-valve Sunbeam was to confront side-valve Vauxhall, but neither marque could cope with the lighter twin overhead cam 16 valve Peugeots of Boillot, Goux and Resta.  For once reliability deserted Sunbeam and after eight gruelling laps Peugeot finished first and second, followed by K Lee Guinness in a Sunbeam and Jock Hancock fourth in the Vauxhall.

The A Type as record-breaker

In addition to competition success in its own right, the A Type engine was also the basis for cars prepared by the Company for formula-based record-breaking performance and endurance testing at Brooklands in the years between 1909 and 1913.

We know from Ernest Frazer that Hancock had a “hot” engine – A.09-7 – which he moved into any competition car that he had used since late 1908, Jock used it in the 1909 Scottish Trial and was rebuilt by the works to become the first “KN”, much seen at Brooklands in late 1909.

In these special cars, the Company pioneered the application of aerodynamics to body design, producing the KN series - hot stuff! - of special bodied cars, where wind resistance was reduced to a minimum, the cars were lightened as much as possible, and engine output was increased for maximum performance.

In those days, cars were classified by RAC horse-power rating, calculated on the basis of a half horse-power for every square inch of piston area.  In addition to winning the laurels for the first 20 hp car ever to exceed 100 mph over a flying half mile, which was achieved in October 1910, in the previous year a streamlined but basic A.09 car – the first KN - had established a class record for the flying half-mile at 88.6 mph.  This car remained in competition use by the Company, but subsequent versions of “KN” were based on the narrow C.10 chassis, and in November 1912 another went on to gain the world record for 50 miles in 30m. 52s. at an average speed of 97.15 mph.  In so doing, Hancock also took the 21 hp class record for the flying half mile at 101.24 mph, the mile at 99.61 mph and 10 laps at 96.32 mph.

The D Type

At the end of 1912, Pomeroy introduced a completely new engine design with a silent chain drive for the cam-shaft and magneto. In fact, this engine came in two versions: in 3 litre (90 x120mm) and 4 litre (95 x 140mm) form with only minor differences in the inlet and exhaust manifolds between the two engines.

The 3 litre engine was fitted into a new narrower shorter chassis as the 16/20hp A Type, as described earlier, while the 4 litre engine was fitted into a wider (36 ins) and longer (10ft 7ins) chassis as the D Type.

A few A Types and Prince Henry's were sold to the War Department for military purposes, but the D Type went on to win honours becoming the standard staff car for the Army in the Great War, transporting, amongst others, King George V to the Western-front and General Kitchener into Jerusalem.

To achieve better performance in the Prince Henry, Vauxhall installed the 4 litre D Type engine, tuned to deliver 75 bhp, from late 1912 onwards, however, the earlier V radiator was retained, albeit with a higher profile and greater heat exchange capacity, but the additional heat produced by the bigger engine was always a weak spot in later Prince Henry cars. Thereafter, this model formed the basis of the standard post war production of the E Type 30-98 car.

The A Type now

Of these "remarkable" cars, less than two dozen survive today world-wide: many live in Australia and New Zealand, including A09.1, which is currently undergoing a complete rebuild in the hands of Jim and Peter Weir, and there are lovely examples of all the A Type series actively campaigned in these countries.

Sadly only four are known in the UK:  David Dutton's A09, John Newens A12, another A12 has been converted by David Biggins into an “aero-engined” racer and the author's 16-20 A Type with a D type engine, although a fifth, previously owned by the late Eric Allsop, lives in Spain.

The A type was truly one of the most acclaimed 3 litre cars of it's day, and as such, it deserves better recognition of it's rightful place in automotive history, not only achieving many records for out-right speed and high speed endurance, within the 21hp limit, as well as having had some parental involvement in the conception of both the Prince Henry and the 30-98hp Vauxhalls.

Alisdaire Lockhart

May 2004
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TABLE 1

Specifications of the A09, A11, A12 and 116/20 hp A Type




A09

A11

A12


16/20 hp

Works Orders:

1770-1778
1803-1811
1811&1812

1813-1818

Engine size:

90x120
90x120
90x120

90x120








few 95x120

Cam drive:

gear

gear

gear


silent chain

Carburettor:

White & Poppe
30mm 

30mm 

30mm 


30mm 

Zenith






36mm


36mm

Claudel Hobson







26mm 

Fuel supply:

gravity

gravity

gravity


forced feed








few forced

Magneto:

Bosch D
Bosch D
Bosch D

Bosch ZU4











Eisman 

Clutch:


cone

cone

multi-plate

multi-plate






or multi-plate

Rear A/R:

1:2.95

1:3.65

1:3.65


1:3.875




to

or

or




1:4.13

1:3.875
1:3.875

Brake drums:

12 ins

12 ins

12 ins


9 ins

Chassis length:
9'7"

9'7"

9'7"


9'9"




or

or

or




10'3"

10'3"

10'3"

Sub-frame:

U section
U section
angle iron

angle iron

Chassis width

Front:


30 ins

30 ins

30 ins


28 ins

Rear:


36 ins

36 ins

36 ins


34 ins

King pins:

vertical

vertical

inclined

inclined

Wheel size:

875x105
875x105
880x120

815x105

Production run:
253 cars
359 cars
57 cars


271 cars








(21 as 3.5 litre)

